Petition for Review Filed 06-13-2024

ed 06-13-2024 Page 1 of 31

FILED 06-13-2024 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WISCONSIN IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2023AP1140

STATE OF WISCONSIN ex rel. WISCONSIN DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS, DIVISION OF COMMUNITY CORRECTIONS,

Petitioner-Respondent-Petitioner,

v.

BRIAN HAYES, ADMINISTRATOR, DIVISION OF HEARINGS AND APPEALS,

Respondent-Appellant,

KEYO SELLERS,

Intervenor-Co-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A FINAL ORDER OF THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE THOMAS J. McADAMS, PRESIDING

PETITION FOR REVIEW

CLAYTON P. KAWSKI Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1066228

Attorneys for Petitioner-Respondent-Petitioner

INTRODUCTION

This certiorari case involves a challenge by the Wisconsin Department of Corrections (DOC) to a decision made by Brian Hayes, Administrator of the Division of Hearings and Appeals (DHA). DHA reversed an administrative law judge's (ALJ) revocation of Keyo Sellers's probation after he was criminally charged with sexually assaulting a stranger, K.A.B., in her home and later trespassed on her property.

This Court's review is warranted to clarify the type of evidence admissible to support a probation revocation based on allegations of sexual assault and trespass. K.A.B. did not testify at the revocation hearing to avoid retraumatizing her and because she could not readily identify her attacker, but DOC presented evidence including the police report; the victim's report to DOC; DNA evidence and testimony supporting it; video evidence of Sellers on the victim's porch days after the assault, peeping into her home; the probation agent's testimony that the man on the porch was Sellers; and the fact of the victim's report to police, submission to a SANE examination, and immediate purchase of surveillance equipment after the attack.

The ALJ concluded that DOC had proved the violations without relying exclusively on out-of-court statements. But on appeal, DHA concluded that the statements were necessary to prove the "account of events." Although Sellers had not objected to their use or the victim's absence from the hearing, DHA concluded sua sponte that the use of those statements would violate Sellers's due process rights because they were hearsay. It then held that DOC failed to prove the probation violations. On certiorari review, the circuit court reversed DHA; but on appeal, the court of appeals reversed the circuit court in a per curiam decision. Their disagreement reflects three key questions this Court should answer.

Case 2023AP001140 Petition for Review Filed 06-13-2024 Page 7 of 31

In reversing the revocation decision on appeal, DHA misunderstood the law in two ways. First, DHA failed to consider whether all the non-hearsay evidence in the record supported a finding that Sellers committed the probation violations of sexual assault and trespass, even if it believed it could not consider the victim's out-of-court statements. Second, DHA misunderstood what due process requires in a revocation setting and imposed a rule even stricter than in a criminal proceeding. The U.S. Supreme Court held in *Morrissey v. Brewer*, 408 U.S. 471, 487, 489–90 (1972), that while an offender has a conditional right to confront the victim, the revocation process should be flexible enough to consider materials that would not be admissible in an adversarial criminal trial.

A third issue is presented by the court of appeals's reversal of the circuit court: in deferring to DHA's "findings," the court of appeals did not properly apply the standard of review in certiorari actions where the agency makes an error of law. The court of appeals ignored DHA's legal errors and affirmed on the theory that it could have reached the decision it did had DHA reviewed the evidence in the record. But a reviewing court cannot ignore an agency's legal errors under the concept of "substantial evidence": certiorari review requires the court to consider whether the agency's decision conformed to law.

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Even if a sexual assault victim's out-of-court statements are found inadmissible, must the agency in a revocation proceeding still consider whether other unobjected-to, non-hearsay evidence supports a finding of the probation violations?

DHA's decision did not consider the remaining evidence presented by DOC, none of which was objected to by Sellers.

Case 2023AP001140 Petition for Review Filed 06-13-2024 Page 8 of 31

The circuit court granted DOC's request for a writ of certiorari and reversed DHA's decision.

The court of appeals reversed the circuit court's final order.

2. Does a probationer's conditional right to confront the victim under *Morrissey v. Brewer*, 408 U.S. 471, 487, 489–90 (1972), allow an agency to consider out-of-court statements by a sexual assault victim?

The hearing examiner did not address this issue because she believed there was sufficient other evidence that she did not need to rely on those statements. DHA disagreed, treating the statements as needed but inadmissible purely because they were hearsay.

The circuit court granted DOC's request for a writ of certiorari and reversed DHA's decision.

The court of appeals reversed the circuit court's final order.

3. Where an agency commits an error of law about its ability to consider certain evidence and thus fails to consider it, does a reviewing court properly ignore that error and simply consider the remaining evidence under certiorari review?

DHA did not address this issue.

The circuit court granted DOC's request for a writ of certiorari and reversed DHA's decision.

The court of appeals reversed the circuit court's final order.

CRITERIA FOR GRANTING REVIEW

This case meets the criteria for granting review in Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r)(a), (c)2., and 3.

First, this Court's review is warranted to develop, clarify, and harmonize the evidentiary standard in Wisconsin for a finding of sexual assault or trespass in revocation proceedings: whether, even if the agency determines that the victim's out-of-court statement cannot be considered, it must consider if other, non-hearsay evidence would support the findings of violation.

Second, the case presents a real and important question about federal constitutional law: under *Morrissey*, whether and in what circumstances out-of-court statements by sexual assault victims are admissible in a probation-revocation proceeding.

Third, this Court's review is warranted to develop, clarify, and harmonize the law regarding how reviewing courts should conduct certiorari review when the agency's probation-revocation decision makes an error of law about the evidence it considers.

Given the number of probation revocation appeals each year,¹ this Court's decision will have statewide impact. It will affect when DOC is able to avoid potentially retraumatizing sexual assault victims by having them testify, especially in situations like this one where the victim cannot identify her attacker.

_

¹ In 2023, DHA processed and closed 3,027 cases by hearing. DOA, Corrections Appeals - 2023, https://doa.wi.gov/Pages/LicensesHearings/CorApp.aspx (last visited June 12, 2024). 945 of those cases were appealed to the DHA administrator. *Id*.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Factual background

A. Sellers was convicted of delivering narcotics as party to a crime, received an imposed-and-stayed sentence, and was placed on probation for three years.

On February 18, 2019, Sellers was convicted of one count of delivery of schedule I or II narcotics as party to a crime in Milwaukee County Case No. 17-CF-4997. (R. 7:51; 8:1.) The circuit court imposed and stayed a sentence of 30 months of initial confinement followed by 30 months of extended supervision. (R. 7:51.) Sellers was placed on probation for three years. (R. 7:51.) His rules of supervision required him to "[a]void all conduct which is in violation of federal or state statute . . . or which is not in the best interest of the public welfare or [his] rehabilitation." (R. 8:15.)

B. Police received a report from K.A.B. of a home invasion, sexual assault, and theft; security cameras K.A.B. installed immediately after captured the same man trespassing on her porch, peeping into her window.

On September 15, 2021, police received a report of a stranger home invasion and sexual assault. The victim, K.A.B., reported that a man entered her home without her consent. (R. 7:16, 33–34 (K.A.B.'s Jan. 25, 2022, statement to DOC), 40 (probable cause statement and judicial determination).) While there, he sexually assaulted her and took \$30 without her consent. (R. 7:16, 34–35, 40.)

K.A.B.'s January 25, 2022, statement to DOC provided a detailed account of the assault (R. 7:33–37), and was consistent with the narrative account of the assault and trespass stated in a probable cause statement and judicial determination signed by a circuit court commissioner on

Case 2023AP001140 Petition for Review Filed 06-13-2024 Page 11 of 31

December 30, 2021, finding probable cause to hold Sellers in jail custody (R. 7:40–42).

According to K.A.B.'s account, a man entered her house when she was asleep on the couch in her living room. (R. 7:33.) The man appeared suddenly and walked into the living room carrying a large knife. (R. 7:34.) He smelled strongly of cigarettes and alcohol and wore a red bandana that covered his nose and mouth. (R. 7:34.)

The man ordered K.A.B. upstairs, where he ordered her to remove her clothes. (R. 7:34.) He ordered her to lie on her stomach and then put his fingers inside her vagina, forcing them in and out, telling her he had been watching her for a year and going inside her house when she walked her dog. (R. 7:34.) He appeared to use his phone as a flashlight, told her to look into his phone's camera, and appeared to take a photo. (R. 7:35.)

After he was finished assaulting K.A.B., he picked up the knife and asked K.A.B. if she had any money. (R. 7:35.) She gave him \$30 from her pants pocket. (R. 7:35.) He told her to wait until she heard him leave before calling the police. (R. 7:35.) K.A.B. went downstairs minutes later and called 911. (R. 7:35–36.)

Police arrived, interviewed her, and then took her to the hospital. (R. 7:36; 8:90.) K.A.B. consented to a sexual-assault (SANE) examination, including samples from her vaginal area. (R. 7:46; 8:90, 110.)

Shortly after the assault, K.A.B. arranged to have a security system installed with cameras at every entrance to her home and glass-break sensors. (R. 7:36; 8:90.) Only a few days after the installation, during the early morning of September 22, that camera took two different videos, four minutes apart, of a man standing on K.A.B.'s porch, peeping into her window. (R. 7:36, 1 (noting that DHA filed a CD labeled Exhibit #6 in the circuit court containing

Case 2023AP001140 Petition for Review Filed 06-13-2024 Page 12 of 31

video files named "1246nCass_Video1.mp4" and "1246nCass_Video2.mp4"); R. 65–67 (granting a motion to supplement the record with the disc).) K.A.B. believed that the man in the videos was the same man who sexually assaulted her based upon his height, weight, build, approximate age, receding hairline, prominent forehead, and cigarette tucked behind his ear. (R. 7:37.)

C. Sellers was charged with second-degree sexual assault of K.A.B. and burglary and is awaiting trial after several delays.

On December 29, 2021, Sellers turned himself into custody at the Milwaukee Police Department. (R. 7:38–39.) Pursuant to a warrant, buccal swabs were taken from him for analysis at the Wisconsin State Crime Laboratories. (R. 7:43.) DNA material found on K.A.B.'s pubic area after her sexual-assault examination was consistent with Sellers's profile. (R. 7:48; 8:110, 114.)

On January 12, 2022, Sellers was charged in Milwaukee County Case No. 22-CF-0136 for his actions at K.A.B.'s residence with: (1) second-degree sexual assault/use of force, a class C felony, and (2) burglary-room within a building, etc., a class F felony. (R. 7:44–45.)

Per CCAP, Sellers's trial is set for August 5, 2024. It has been delayed several times. It was set for May 9, September 6, and October 24, 2022; April 3, July 24, and November 6, 2023; and April 1, 2024, before its current date of August 5. Per CCAP, on October 24, 2022, nine law enforcement officers who would testify were present in court. But the state could not proceed because of a trial that day in another court. On July 24, 2023, the court could not proceed due to a trial commencing that day in an unrelated case in the same branch. The same thing happened on November 6, 2023. On April 1, 2024, defense counsel advised the court that Sellers was hospitalized, and the trial was again adjourned.

Case 2023AP001140 Petition for Review Filed 06-13-2024 Page 13 of 31

II. Procedural history of the revocation

A. DOC initiated revocation proceedings based upon Sellers's assaulting K.A.B., taking her money, trespassing at her home, and lying to his probation agent.

In March 2022, DOC initiated revocation proceedings. (R. 7:16–17.) DOC alleged that Sellers violated his rules of supervision by (1) entering K.A.B.'s residence without her consent on September 15, 2021; (2) shoving his fingers into her vagina without her consent; (3) taking \$30 from her without her consent; (4) trespassing at her home on September 22, 2021; and (5) providing false information to his agent on February 4, 2022. (R. 7:16.) Sellers contested the first four allegations and stipulated to the fifth. (R. 8:80–81.)

B. The ALJ heard testimony and received evidence and issued a decision revoking Sellers's probation.

On March 29 and May 4, 2022, Sellers appeared with counsel before ALJ Martha Carlson at a revocation hearing. (R. 8:77, 124.) DOC appeared by probation agent Geraldine Kellen. (R. 8:77, 124.)

1. DOC presented witness testimony, documents, videos, and audio files to prove Sellers's rules violations.

In support of alleged rules violations 1 through 4, DOC presented the testimony of Michelle Burns, an analyst with the Wisconsin State Crime Laboratories who analyzed K.A.B.'s sexual assault kit and Sellers's buccal swabs; Agent Kellen; and Officer Michael Walker, who is assigned to the Sensitive Crimes Division at the Milwaukee Police Department and was involved in investigating K.A.B.'s assault and the trespass on her porch. (R. 8:86–137.)

Case 2023AP001140 Petition for Review Filed 06-13-2024 Page 14 of 31

Analyst Burns testified regarding the analysis she performed on K.A.B.'s sexual assault kit and Sellers's buccal swab. (R. 8:104–21.) She prepared a DNA report. (R. 8:105; 7:46–50 (report).) She testified that, based upon Y-STR DNA analysis she completed, a male DNA profile was developed from "the non-sperm fraction of the mons pubis swabs collected from the kit from [K.A.B.]." (R. 8:110.) "[T]he data that was returned was consistent with Mr. Sellers' profile." (R. 8:110.) On cross-examination, Analyst Burns confirmed that the "profile that [she] got as a result of the STR testing is consistent with Keyo Sellers." (R. 8:114.)

Analyst Burns explained that a profile match on a Y-STR DNA analysis would not necessarily exclude male individuals from the same genetic background, such as a father, son, full siblings, or even half siblings, if they share a father. (R. 8:110–11.) They would share the same Y-STR DNA profile. (R. 8:111.) Additionally, other unrelated males could share the same profile. Specifically, Analyst Burns testified that, as a "statistical estimate," "the DNA that [she] found that matches Mr. Sellers could also match one in every 278 African Americans." (R. 8:116.) Based upon census data, Sellers's counsel asked the ALJ to take judicial notice of the fact that there would be 289 African Americans in Milwaukee also who would match Sellers's DNA profile. (R. 8:116–17, 55 (data Sellers's counsel relied upon).)

Agent Kellen testified that she had supervised Sellers since October 2019. (R. 8:128.) She authored the revocation summary. (R. 8:128.) She viewed the surveillance videos from K.A.B.'s ADT security system and was "99%" certain that "it was Mr. Sellers [on the videos] based on his appearance, based on his walk, and based on the fact that [she] supervised him, you know, for almost 18 months." (R. 8:129.) Agent Kellen met with K.A.B. in person, took a written statement from her, and spoke to her a few times after that on the phone. (R. 8:130.)

Case 2023AP001140 Petition for Review Filed 06-13-2024 Page 15 of 31

Officer Walker investigated a porch-trespass complaint at K.A.B.'s residence one week after the assault. (R. 8:90.) He testified that, the day after the assault, K.A.B. had ADT security cameras installed around her house. (R. 8:90.) On September 22, 2021, K.A.B. reported to police that an unknown black male was prowling on her front porch. (R. 8:90–91.) Patrol officers obtained video footage from the security cameras and gave it to Officer Walker. (R. 8:91.) He spoke to K.A.B. and then gave the video footage the Greenfield Police Department to run through facial-recognition software. (R. 8:91.) The software generated a report (that is not in the record), and three of Sellers's Milwaukee County Jail booking photos found in the software's database matched at 98.2%, 92.7%, and 85.5%, respectively, to video-still images from the security-camera footage of the man on K.A.B.'s porch. (R. 8:91–92.)

Officer Walker testified that he or his colleague showed the video-still images to K.A.B., and she believed that the man in the images was her assailant based upon their similar stature, height and weight, his walk, receding hairline, and the fact that the man in the video appeared to be unzipping his pants, which is consistent with what the assailant told K.A.B. about being outside her house masturbating. (R. 8:92–93.) Two of Officer Walker's colleagues at the police department interviewed Sellers's ex-wife, Jacquelyn Rule, and showed her the video stills. (R. 8:93–94.) Ms. Rule identified Sellers in the stills. (R. 8:94.) Officer Walker testified that K.A.B. was shown two photo lineups that included photos of Sellers in them, but K.A.B. did not identify Sellers as her assailant from the photos. (R. 8:99.)

Officer Walker testified also about the investigation his colleagues did. He testified that Detective Ka Yeng Kue interviewed K.A.B. the night she was assaulted. (R. 8:87.) Officer Walker testified that K.A.B. reported to police that around 2:30 a.m. on September 15, 2021, she was sexually

Case 2023AP001140 Petition for Review Filed 06-13-2024 Page 16 of 31

assaulted by a man who broke into her home, took \$30 from her, and then fled the scene. (R. 8:88.) K.A.B. phoned the police, who arrived shortly thereafter. (R. 8:88–89.) She described the assailant as a black male, late thirties or early forties, receding hairline, 180 to 200 pounds, smelling strongly of cigarettes and alcohol, wearing a white tank top, black pants, and with a red handkerchief covering the lower half of his face. (R. 8:89.)

K.A.B. did not testify at the hearing. Agent Kellen testified that DOC did not subpoena her to testify because "she told the police and she's told [Agent Kellen] she can't 100% ID her assailant," so Agent Kellen "didn't feel it was necessary to have her come in and provide testimony and go through the trauma of her assault to only say that she believes that Mr. Sellers could be the assailant, but she doesn't know 100%." (R. 8:130.) Instead of testifying, K.A.B.'s January 25, 2022, written statement to Agent Kellen was part of the record. (R. 7:33–37; 8:80 (the statement is part of revocation-hearing Ex. 1, DOC's revocation packet).) In the statement, K.A.B. recounted the events of September 15, 21, and 22, 2021. (R. 7:33–37.)

Sellers provided statements to DOC on January 12 and March 4, 2022, that are in the record. (R. 7:28–32; 8:80.) He denied ever being on K.A.B.'s property, stated that he was not the person in the security-camera video from K.A.B.'s porch, and denied sexually assaulting anyone. (R. 7:31.) He also stated that "[t]he police will not find any DNA of mine at this crime scene." (R. 7:31.)

Lastly, DOC filed the security-camera video from K.A.B.'s porch showing Sellers trespassing and audio files of calls that Sellers made to his girlfriend while he was in jail custody on a probation hold. (R. 8:58 ("Exhibit 6 from the revocation hearing is a DVD that contains six audio or video files."); R. 7:1; 65–67 (granting a motion to supplement the record with the disc DOC filed in the revocation proceedings).)

Case 2023AP001140 Petition for Review Filed 06-13-2024 Page 17 of 31

2. The ALJ revoked Sellers's probation based upon the five rules violations that she found had occurred.

On May 9, 2022, ALJ Carlson issued a decision revoking Sellers's probation in Milwaukee County Case No. 17-CF-4997. (R. 8:61–66, App. 157–62.)

ALJ Carlson relied upon non-hearsay evidence to find the rules-of-supervision violations. (R. 8:64–65, App. 160–61.) She first explained that "K.A.B. did not provide testimony at the final revocation hearing as the Department did not subpoena her." (R. 8:64, App. 160.) She noted that "[a]lthough hearsay is admissible in a revocation proceeding, that evidence may not form the basis for a revocation decision unless it bears some substantial indicia of reliability." (R. 8:64, App. 160.) She explained that "[t]he submitted crime laboratory report is not hearsay, as Analyst Burns provided testimony at the final revocation hearing." (R. 8:65, App. 161.)

ALJ Carlson then held that "[t]he credible testimony of Analyst Burns confirms that a DNA profile consistent with Mr. Sellers was recovered from K.A.B. There is no credible explanation for why Mr. Sellers' DNA would be on K.A.B. but for the assault." (R. 8:65, App. 161.) She also found that "Mr. Sellers can be seen on surveillance video trespassing onto K.A.B.'s porch and looking into her windows without permission on a later date after the sexual assault occurred. K.A.B. reported that she believed the individual seen on the surveillance video was the same individual who assaulted her based on his physical appearance and mannerisms." (R. 8:65, App. 161.) ALJ Carlson concluded that "allegations 1-4have been established by a preponderance of the evidence." (R. 8:65, App. 161.) Based upon Sellers's stipulation, ALJ Carlson also found he committed rule violation 5. (R. 8:65, App. 161.) ALJ Carlson determined that revocation was appropriate under State ex rel. Plotkin v. DHSS, 63 Wis. 2d 535, 217 N.W.2d 641 (1974). (R. 8:65, App. 161.)

Case 2023AP001140 Petition for Review Filed 06-13-2024 Page 18 of 31

C. Sellers appealed the revocation, and DHA reversed because K.A.B. did not testify.

Sellers appealed ALJ Carlson's decision to DHA. (R. 8:69–71.) On June 17, 2022, DHA issued a decision reversing ALJ Carlson's revocation decision. (R. 8:72–74, App. 154–56.)

DHA disagreed that K.A.B.'s out-of-court statements were unnecessary to finding that the violations had occurred. DHA concluded that the only "non-hearsay account of events" was offered by Sellers, who asserted he had never been to K.A.B.'s home. (R. 8:73, App. 155.) Sellers's account was not presented through testimony either, but DHA treated his statements as admissible non-hearsay admissions by a party opponent in litigation. (R. 8:73, App. 155.)

DHA concluded that none of K.A.B.'s hearsay statements were admissible under the rules of evidence. (R. 8:72, App. 154.) DHA did not consider whether the out-of-court statements satisfied the residual exception to the hearsay rule or whether other, non-hearsay statement supported the rule violations. (R. 8:72–74, App. 154–56.) It concluded that rule violations 1 through 4 "were not proven," and the ALJ's decision was reversed. (R. 8:73, App. 155.)

DHA concluded that revocation and confinement were not necessary under *Plotkin* in light of Sellers's stipulated rule violation 5. (R. 8:74, App. 156.)

D. DOC sought judicial review: the circuit court granted DOC's request for certiorari, reversed DHA's decision, and stayed its final order pending appeal.

On August 1, 2023, DOC filed a summons and complaint requesting that the circuit court issue a writ of certiorari and reverse DHA's decision. (R. 2.) Sellers

Case 2023AP001140 Petition for Review Filed 06-13-2024 Page 19 of 31

intervened in the case and was appointed counsel. (R. 14; 22; 23.) After DHA answered the complaint (R. 24), the parties briefed the merits (R. 25; 29; 30; 31).

On May 1, 2023, the circuit court entered a written decision granting DOC's request for a writ of certiorari and reversing DHA's decision. (R. 36:42, App. 152.) The court concluded that DHA's decision was "based on an incorrect view of the law," failing the second prong of the applicable standard for certiorari. (R. 36:39, App. 149.) It concluded that DHA's decision also failed the third and fourth prongs of the test. (R. 36:40, App. 150.)

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