FILED 06-27-2024 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WISCONSIN

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Appeal No. 2023AP1140

State of Wisconsin ex rel. Wisconsin Department of Corrections, Division of Community Corrections,

Petitioner-Respondent-Petitioner, v.

Brian Hayes, Administrator, Division of Hearings and Appeals,

Respondent-Appellant,

Keyo Sellers,

Intervenor-Co-Appellant.

On Appeal From a Decision and Order in the Milwaukee County Circuit Court, The Honorable Thomas J. McAdams, Presiding Milwaukee County Case No. 22CV4878

RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW OF KEYO SELLERS

DANIEL R. DRIGOT

Attorney for Intervenor-Co-Appellant 2011 East Park Place, #16 Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53211 (414) 364-3994 State Bar No. 1039269

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

CASES
Black v. Romano, 471 U.S. 606 (1985)5
Morrissey v. Brewer, 408 U.S. 471 (1972)
State ex rel. Simpson v. Schwarz, 2002 WI App 7, 250 Wis. 2d 214, 640 N.W.2d 5275
State ex rel. Wis. Dep't of Corrs., Div. of Cmty. Corrs. v. Hayes, No. 2023AP1140, 2024 WL 2146952 (Wis. Ct. App. May 14, 2024) (unpublished)
Van Arx v Schwarz, 185 Wis. 2d 645, 517 N.W. 2d 540 (Ct. App. 1994)
Van Ermen v. DHSS, 84 Wis. 2d 57, 217 N.W. 2d 17 (1978)
STATUTES
Wis. Stat. § 809.62 (1r)(a)
Wis. Stat. § 809.62 (1r)(c)
WISCONSIN ADMINISTRATIVE CODE
Wis. Admin. Code § HA 2.05 (9)
Wis. Admin. Code § HA 2.05(6)(d)

I.

In reference to the petitioner's first criteria for review, review by this Court is not needed to develop, clarify or harmonize Wisconsin law. See Wis. Stat. § 809.62 (1r)(c). The law governing evidentiary standards in agency revocation decisions and the right to confrontation in revocations is well settled. This case also does not meet the additional requirement in sec. 809.62 (1r)(c), stats. under subs 1, 2 and 3, that this case calls or the adoption of a new doctrine rather than simply the application of well-settled principles, or that the questions presented are novel, or that the question presented is a question of law rather than fact that requires resolution by this Court – nor does the DOC so allege.

While the DOC's arguments overlap across the three criteria they name, it alleges that DHA "ignored", "failed to consider", displayed "willful ignorance" and "did not consider the DNA and security camera evidence *at all*." Pet. for Rev. at 23, 24, 25 and 28 (emphasis in the original). The DOC however does not point to anything in the record or offer any evidence to support this claim. There is no evidence in the record that DHA failed to consider any of the evidence in Sellers' case. On administrative appeal of a hearing decision, the DHA Administrator is required to review the evidence and produce a written decision explaining the reasons for his action. See. Wis. Admin. Code § HA 2.05 (9). We are not aware of any rule that requires DHA to provide an exhaustive narrative of every phase of the hearing or a detailed critique of each witness and item entered into evidence.

In this case, the administrator examined the evidence and concluded that, absent K.A.B.'s live testimony, neither a sexual assault nor a trespass could be proven without violating Mr. Sellers' due process rights. "[W]ithout K.A.B.'s hearsay statements, there is no evidence to explain what took place." (R. 8:72). Had the DOC argued in the court of appeals that DHA was wrong in

Case 2023AP001140

Filed 06-27-2024

its application of the two-pronged test from Simpson and succeeded, DHA would have then had to pick up the analysis where it left off and decide whether the evidence in this case, including K.A.B.'s hearsay statement, was sufficient to prove the allegations. DHA's decision followed state and federal law correctly and, insofar as the administrator made factual determinations, they were well founded and certainly conclusions upon which reasonable minds might agree.

II.

As to the petitioner's second criteria, this case does not present a real and important question about federal constitutional law. See Wis. Stat. § 809.62 (1r)(a). The DOC claims the question to be, "under *Morrissey*, whether and in what circumstances out-of-court statements by sexual assault victims are admissible in a probation-revocation proceeding." Pet. for Rev. at 9. First, the DOC appears to be confused as to the admissibility of hearsay evidence in corrections revocation hearings. Hearsay is generally admissible at revocation hearings. See Wis. Admin. Code § HA 2.05(6)(d) and *Morrissey v. Brewer*, 408 U.S. 471, 489 (1972). Indeed, all of the hearsay offered by the DOC was admitted into evidence at Seller's hearing and is present in the record today.

The DHA, however, cannot base a finding that an allegation has been proven on any evidence in violation of the defendant's basic constitutional rights. In this case, like the right to be competent at the time of one's hearing or the right to be represented by counsel, the defendant has a right to confront and cross-examine his accuser that must be ensured by the DHA. "A hearing officer must find 'good cause' before denying this right in order to 'protect the defendant against revocation of probation in a constitutionally unfair manner".

¹ That conclusion is not as self-evident as the DOC assumes. As the court of appeals notes, the DNA evidence that is consistent with Mr. Sellers is equally consistent with approximately 400 other African American males in the city of Milwaukee alone. See *Hayes*, 2023AP1140, 2024 WL 2146952 at ¶ 19.

State ex rel. Wis. Dep't of Corrs., Div. of Cmty. Corrs. v. Hayes, No. 2023AP1140, 2024 WL 2146952 (Wis. Ct. App. May 14, 2024) (unpublished); (Pet.'s App. 106) (citing Black v. Romano, 471 U.S. 606, 611-13 (1985); State ex rel. Simpson v. Schwarz, 2002 WI App 7, ¶ 15, 250 Wis. 2d 214, 640 N.W.2d 527). The limited right to confrontation in a revocation context arises not from the Sixth Amendment but from the Fourteenth Amendment's due process considerations. See Morrissey, 408 U.S. at 482.

The question of how a limited right to confrontation should apply in a revocation hearing was settled in Wisconsin 20 years ago by the court of appeals in *Simpson*. *Simpson* applied a two-prong test in which satisfaction of either prong would constitute 'good cause' for the hearing judge to dispense with the necessity of confrontation. If either, a) the proffered hearsay statement would be admissible under a well-established hearsay exception in criminal court, or b) a balancing test between the DOC's difficulty, expense or other reasons for wishing to deny confrontation with the defendant's need for cross-examination should weigh in favor of the state, then 'good cause' can be found. *Simpson*, 2002 WI App 7, ¶20.

The question of when a sexual assault victim should be excused from testifying is also not a new question. *Simpson* was a case involving that precise question. Rather than exempting an entire category of victim from a defendant's due process rights however, *Simpson* applied its two-pronged test and found 'good cause' under the residual hearsay rule, as the assault victim in that case was a very young child. See *Simpson*, 2002 WI App 7, ¶30.

From *Morrissey* to *Simpson*, courts have recognized that the right to confrontation is an important element of the defendant's right to due process and to the fair administration of justice. In a case where the accusing witness (not always a victim) is the only witness to an alleged violation of the rules, only that person can tell their story; only they can answer (sometimes innocuous) questions from counsel about the setting of the incident, the action

they observed, or didn't observe, that law enforcement did not think to ask or did not choose to ask, that may make it more or less likely that defendant is the person responsible.

In any event, the case under review is not an appropriate case to examine the DOC's argument that sexual assault victims should not be required to testify at revocation hearings against their will. In this case, we have no indication that K.A.B. had any objection to testifying. Reviewing the agent's testimony, the administrator found that "K.A.B. was not called to testify because the [DOC] voluntarily chose not to subpoena her". (R. 8:72). "In this case [the probation agent] testified that she decided not to present K.A.B. because K.A.B. could not unequivocally identify Sellers as the assailant." (R. 8:73). Well aware of the requirements of *Simpson* and *Morrissey*, the DOC chose not to present K.A.B. to testify for its own reasons, not as far as we know in response to any reluctance on the part of the witness.

The case under review does not present a real and important question about federal constitutional law. Any such questions are long settled and very clear.

III.

As to the petitioner's third criteria for review, this Court's review is not needed "to develop, clarify, and harmonize the law regarding how reviewing courts should conduct certiorari review when the agency's probation-revocation decision makes an error of law about the evidence it considers." Pet. for Rev. at 9, Wis. Stat. § 809.62 (1r)(c).

Again, we note that DOC does not allege, as sec. 809.62 (1r)(c), stats., requires, that one of three other conditions be present: that the case calls for a new doctrine, that the question presented is a novel one, or that the question is

one of law, rather than fact, that will recur unless settled by this Court. See id., subsections 1-3.

More importantly, none of the criteria argued by the DOC was raised or argued by them in the court of appeals. In Mr. Sellers' case, DHA performed the two-prong test required by *Simpson* and found that it could not excuse the witness' live testimony and could not find the allegations proven without her account of what had happened. The court of appeals observed that,

[o]n appeal, DOC does not appear to argue that this conclusion was erroneous, and it concedes that DHA kept within its jurisdiction and acted according to law. Instead, DOC argues that ALJ Carlson did not need to find good cause to consider K.A.B.'s out-of-court, testimonial hearsay statements because she did not rely on any of these statements in reaching her conclusion to revoke Sellers' probation. DOC further argues that ALJ Carlson's decision to revoke was supported by substantial non-hearsay evidence, namely, the DNA evidence and surveillance camera footage.

Hayes, 2024 WL 2146952, ¶ 15; (Pet.'s App. 107) (footnote omitted).

The court found that that argument failed because the court does not compare the ALJ's decision to the administrator's, it reviews the ultimate decision of DHA and, in a question of the evaluation of evidence, it must defer to the agency if substantial evidence supports the agency's findings, even if evidence may also support a contrary conclusion. See id. at ¶¶ 16-17, citing *Van Arx v Schwarz*, 185 Wis. 2d 645, 656, 517 N.W. 2d 540 (Ct. App. 1994) ("On certiorari review, we are not permitted to re-weigh or substitute a different view of the evidence in place of DHA's", *Hayes*, at ¶ 17, citing *Van Ermen v. DHSS*, 84 Wis. 2d 57, 64, 217 N.W. 2d 17 (1978)).

The DOC is asking this Court to step into the decision making process of a state agency and tell the agency how to conduct its fact-finding and which evidence is persuasive and important. Indeed, only this Court is able to do that as the courts below have been restrained by the long-standing rule that courts may not substitute their own view of the evidence for conclusions made by the agency. Should Wisconsin courts be given the power to review agency hearing

results *de novo* and dictate to the agency how it should assess evidence, courts would likely be deluged by aggrieved parties in revocation cases, DOC disciplinary hearings, local zoning commission decisions and from a swath of other agencies and local bodies across the state. The chart cited by the DOC in its Petition for Review shows that of 3,027 corrections cases decided by DHA in 2023, only 39 were appealed to the circuit court.² (Pet. for Rev. at 9, footnote 1, referencing

https://doa.wi.gov/Pages/LicensesHearings/CorApp.aspx). As a defense attorney who practices in revocation cases, undersigned counsel would be delighted if courts could be asked to relitigate determinations made by DHA, but that would be a fundamental reorganization of the function of agencies and local boards in Wisconsin. In its petition, the DOC offers no reason why that action would be desirable and proposes no framework for a new system of review.

Wisconsin law governing the authority of courts to review agency decisions by writ of certiorari is well established and action by this Court is not needed to clarify or harmonize it. The DOC disagrees with the conclusions made by DHA on the evidence in Sellers' case and, as in certiorari cases brought by many probationer-petitioners before them, the reviewing court has had to defer to the findings of the agency.

_

² This number includes a certain number of *pro se* writs filed by prisoners, usually with little chance of success. The Wisconsin Public Defender will appoint attorneys for writs of certiorari but only when convinced that a meritorious argument is at issue. Because of the deference courts are required to show to agency determinations, that number is exceptionally small.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated herein, the Court should deny the petitioner's Petition for Review.